IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC11–1193

JERRY	MICHAEL	WICKHAM.

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Frederick T. Davis Kristin D. Kiehn Corey S. Whiting Elizabeth A. Kostrzewa Debevoise & Plimpton LLP 919 Third Avenue New York, NY 10022 (212) 909–6000 Martin J. McClain McClain & McDermott, P.A. 141 N.E. 30th Street Wilton Manors, Florida 33334 (305) 984–8344

Counsel for Jerry Michael Wickham

INTRODUCTION

Jerry Michael Wickham is a brain-damaged schizophrenic with an I.Q. of 85. He was convicted of murder and sentenced to death at a trial in 1988 at which medical evidence went unpresented that would have shown Wickham was incapable of planning the offense or premeditating the killing. The jury never learned that Wickham had frontal lobe brain damage or temporal lobe epilepsy, and never learned the depth of the devastating familial abuse he suffered as a child. The reason why this evidence was not presented is now clear: defense counsel simply never took the time to conduct an appropriate investigation into his client's background or circumstances.

Instead, the jury had before it the testimony of admitted accomplices and jailhouse informants who claimed that Wickham planned the offense, expressed an intent to eliminate witnesses, and showed lack of remorse. As this brief will demonstrate, with respect to every single one of the witnesses whose testimony was critical to the State's argument that Wickham masterminded a cold-blooded killing—and critical to the imposition of the death penalty—subsequent investigation has shown that the State had, but failed to communicate to defense counsel, specific and compelling evidence showing either that the trial testimony of these witnesses was false, that it was motivated by undisclosed bargains with the State, or both. The post-conviction evidence establishes an entirely different

picture of Wickham's culpability and the credibility of his accusers than was presented at trial—but that was a picture his jury and sentencing judge never saw.

The basic facts of the crime are simple and not in real dispute. On March 5, 1986, Wickham was part of a group traveling to Tampa in two cars from Gaylesville, Alabama. The group included Wickham's wife, Sylvia; her sons Jimmy Jordan and Mark and Matthew Norris; Jimmy's girlfriend, Tammy Jordan, and her newborn baby; and Tammy's cousin, Larry Schrader. Several members of the group, including Wickham, had consumed large quantities of alcohol and drugs. (R 1103, 1006, 1159, 1215–16.)¹ They stopped at a rest area near Tallahassee and discovered they had no money and were low on gas. (R 1078, 1081.) After entertaining the idea of asking for help at a church, they decided to rob someone. (R 1078–79, 1144–45, 1191, 1231.) From I–10, the group headed north, (R 1079), stopping just south of the Florida-Georgia border. (R 984.) It was there that Morris Fleming stopped his car and encountered this group.

-

¹ Citations will be designated as follows:

[&]quot;R" – record on direct review, as filed with this Court on March 13, 1989.

[&]quot;PCR" – corrected post-conviction record on appeal until this Court's January 23, 2009 mandate, as filed with this Court on January 12, 2007.

[&]quot;2011 PCR" – post-conviction record on appeal after this Court's January 23, 2009 mandate, as filed with this Court on June 27, 2011.

[&]quot;2011 SPCR" – supplemental post-conviction record on appeal after this Court's January 23, 2009 mandate, as filed with this Court on August 25, 2011.

The group members had parked their two cars about a half-mile apart. (R 1233.) Wickham, Schrader, and Jimmy Jordan went into the woods, each carrying a firearm. (R 1081.) Tammy Jordan stood alongside one of the cars and feigned a mechanical problem, flagging down Fleming. (R 1195–97.) Fleming looked at the car's engine and said he did not see anything wrong. (R 1197.) Wickham then came out of the woods and Fleming started walking back to his car. (R 1197.) Without uttering a word, Wickham took out his gun and shot Fleming in the back and in the shoulder area. (R 1086, 1199.) Wickham then shot Fleming in the head twice, killing him instantly. (R 979, 1199.) He looked through Fleming's pockets for money, finding only four dollars. (R 1087–88.) He did not look in Fleming's wallet or his truck. (R 1113, 1177.) The group drove to a gas station to buy gas, and then drove back to the murder scene to retrieve the other car. (R 1200–03.)

Ultimately, the issues presented during the guilt and penalty phases of Wickham's capital trial centered on his thought processes at the time he fired the shots. Just one week before trial, defense counsel informed the Court that Wickham would rely on an insanity defense. (PCR 4511.) But much of Wickham's mental health history, including multiple brain disorders and a savagely abusive childhood, were never discovered by his attorney and remained unknown by his jury. In addition, the State's failure to disclose critical impeachment evidence and to correct false and/or misleading testimony and

argument crippled the defense's ability to rebut a string of witnesses claiming Wickham took the lead in planning the robbery and premeditated the killing.

It is in this context that the claims in this appeal of multiple *Giglio/Brady* violations, ineffective assistance of trial counsel, and competency to stand trial arise. When analyzed properly, the record demonstrates conclusively that Rule 3.850 relief is warranted.²

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On September 29, 1987, Wickham was arrested in connection with the 1986 shooting of Fleming. (R 1–2.) The arrest of Wickham and four others resulted from information provided by Larry Schrader. (R 6–7, 1063–64.) On October 22, 1987, Wickham, Schrader, Sylvia Wickham, and Jimmy and Tammy Jordan were indicted for first-degree murder, armed robbery, and weapons possession. (R 1–2.)

Wickham's trial ran from November 28 through December 7, 1988 before

Judge Charles McClure. Wickham was represented by Philip Padovano, who is
now a judge of the First District Court of Appeals. He had been appointed to
represent Wickham on April 21, 1988, after three other attorneys had withdrawn in
part due to the difficulty of representing a mentally ill defendant. (R 81, 83, 94–

4

As Wickham filed his motion for post-conviction relief prior to October 1, 2001, it is governed by Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. *See* Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(a).

95, 97, 111–113; 2011 PCR, Vol. 11, Tr. 29–30.) Wickham's defense at trial was that he was insane and incapable of premeditating the crime. The only expert defense counsel consulted was a psychologist, Dr. Joyce Carbonell, who was deposed by the State on November 21, 1988. It was then, just *one week* before trial, that defense counsel first learned that Dr. Carbonell had concluded Wickham was insane at the time of the offense. (PCR 4595–4601; *cf.* PCR 4510–12.)

A. Minimal Time Was Spent On Wickham's Defense

1. Defense Counsel Devoted Almost No Time to Wickham's Case Until After His Judicial Election, Just Before Trial

Soon after Mr. Padovano's appointment as counsel, he quickly concluded the focus of Wickham's defense would be on the penalty phase. (2011 PCR Vol. 11, Tr. 34–36.) As any death penalty lawyer knows, a penalty phase defense depends entirely on adequate, careful investigation conducted sufficiently in advance to permit time to pursue leads and evaluate strategy in light of a thorough understanding of the facts. And Padovano soon learned that, in fact, Wickham's life was marred by numerous events that merited investigation. Jennifer Greenberg, an experienced mitigation specialist engaged by defense counsel, interviewed Wickham and obtained and reviewed his records from Northville

By May 1988, Greenberg had worked as a mitigation specialist on 12–15 death penalty cases and had been trained by Scharlette Holdman, known as the "grandmother of modern mitigation." (2011 PCR Vol. 12, Tr. 205–06.)

Regional Psychiatric Hospital and Ionia State Hospital, institutions at which Wickham had been committed from ages 10 to 21. (2011 PCR Vol. 12, Tr. 215; see also R 1497.) The medical records suggested a history of brain damage, schizophrenia, and potentially epilepsy. (PCR 4844–4946.)

In mid-May 1988, Greenberg presented Padovano with a careful plan to investigate and develop penalty-phase mitigation, including a list of steps necessary to *begin* the critical background investigation. (PCR 4399–4403; *see also* 2011 PCR Vol. 11, Tr. 46–47.) This included interviews of medical personnel and fellow patients from Northville and Ionia hospitals, as well as experts who could discuss the notoriously substandard conditions at those facilities. The plan also included consultation with psychiatric and child development experts and interviews of Wickham's family and friends. (PCR 4401, 4403.) Yet defense counsel never investigated most of these items. (2011 PCR Vol. 11, Tr. 48–49.)

After accepting the Wickham appointment, Padovano decided to run for election to the Second Judicial Circuit. In May 1988, he sought and obtained the first of two continuances. (PCR 4404–07.) Clearly cognizant of the constitutional imperative to conduct a thorough investigation, he advised the court—consistent with Greenberg's plan—that it was necessary "to conduct a *much more detailed investigation of the defendant's background* . . . [which] will likely *support the mitigating circumstances* listed in . . . Florida Statute 921.141(6)." (PCR 4405,

¶ 4(a) (emphasis added).) This included further investigation into Wickham's involuntary confinement and history of schizophrenia, low IQ, and possible brain damage. (*Id.*) Counsel also emphasized the need to obtain additional psychological evaluation, including testing for brain damage. (PCR 4405, ¶ 4(b).) The court granted a continuance until September 12, 1988. (R 243.)

However, counsel took no steps to advance this investigation. Instead, in July 1988, he formally announced his judicial candidacy and began an active campaign. (2011 PCR Vol. 11, Tr. 95.) On August 9, 1988, a second motion for continuance was filed, (PCR 4408–11), in which counsel represented that he had been working "diligently." (*Id.* ¶ 3.) In fact, between filing the May 1988 Motion for Continuance and the August 1988 Motion for Continuance, defense counsel spent approximately 12 hours working on Wickham's case, none of which was spent developing Wickham's medical history and background. (R 242–44.) And between announcing his candidacy in July 1988 and his eventual election in early November 1988, counsel spent just 10.7 hours on Wickham's case, one-third of which was spent preparing for and attending the hearing on the second motion for continuance. (R 242–43.)

Defense counsel did not begin devoting any significant time to Wickham's case until two days after his November 8th election—just over two weeks before the start of Wickham's capital trial. (R 242–44.) His *only* preparation of *any*

defense witnesses, other than engaging psychologist Dr. Carbonell, with whom he had little contact, consisted of a brief encounter with two of Wickham's sisters in the courthouse just before they testified during the guilt phase portion of the trial. (PCR 3972 (Bird); 4001–02 (LaValley).)

2. Time Spent By Investigators and a Psychologist Also Was Negligible

Those assisting counsel with the case also spent very little time on it. Greenberg worked on the case for only a few weeks before she withdrew, after considerable personal anguish, due to what she perceived to be counsel's lack of commitment to investigating mitigation. (2011 PCR Vol. 12, Tr. 207–08.) A gap of nearly two months followed before another investigator, Bill Harris, was hired in July to replace Greenberg, and then another gap ensued before Harris began work in early August. (R 268.) Unlike Greenberg, Harris had no experience investigating mitigating facts in a capital case, (2011 PCR Vol. 12, Tr. 225–26), and he spent only 25 hours on Wickham's case. (R 268.) Harris had brief telephone conversations with six of Wickham's family members and "various agencies"; his only communication with defense counsel consisted of a few short phone calls. (R 266–68; see also R 242–44.) Even though Harris specifically asked Padovano for "the direction you think we should be going and the things you think we should be doing next" after providing an interim report, (2011 SPCR 16–

17 (10/10/88 report)), they spoke only briefly in late October and then had no further contact, (R 243, 268).

After meeting with Wickham briefly in May 1988, Dr. Carbonell did not conduct basic psychological testing until shortly before trial. (R 243 (tests administered on November 10 and 11, 1988; jury selection began on November 28, 1988).) The last screening tests for brain damage were given three days into the start of the guilt phase of the trial. (R 1472; see also R 265.) Although Wickham had told Dr. Carbonell about multiple injuries to his head and frequent black-outs, and screening tests had indicated the presence of brain damage, no further testing was conducted to determine the location, extent, and effect of the damage despite the fact that Dr. Carbonell informed defense counsel that she believed more conclusive psychological testing was warranted. (PCR 3554–55; see also PCR 4566.) Wickham also was not evaluated for epilepsy, despite the fact that his records contained an abnormal EEG indicating he had borderline "convulsive tendencies" and a "question of seizures." (R 1493-94, 1537-38; PCR 4936.) And defense counsel did not consult with any medical specialists with expertise in these specific disorders who could have appropriately diagnosed Wickham's conditions.

Defense counsel rarely communicated even with Dr. Carbonell. She testified that they did "not ha[ve] very many conversations about Jerry at any length We talked in May and then there was a long gap." (PCR 4597.) Time

records show that they did not speak by phone after May and only met for a total of eight hours—all after the November 8th election. (R 242–44; R 265.) Counsel's contact with Dr. Carbonell was so limited that it was not until her deposition on November 21, 1988, that he learned—to his considerable surprise, as vividly expressed on the deposition record—that she had concluded Wickham was insane at the time of the offense. (PCR 4595–4601; *cf.* PCR 4510–12.)

B. Wickham Decompensated Greatly Before and During Trial

On the basis of brief meetings with Wickham in May 1988, Dr. Carbonell had opined that Wickham was competent to stand trial. (PCR 3543–45, 4510.)

But Dr. Carbonell was not aware, because Padovano never informed her, that Wickham exhibited disturbed behavior that raised multiple red flags. For example:

- Wickham refused to be fingerprinted and "act[ed] out" in court. (PCR 4605–11; see also 2011 PCR Vol. 11, Tr. 124.)
- Jail guards reported that Wickham was "unkempt" and at times fell into what they described as a "frozen stare." (PCR 6823.)
- Defense counsel told the trial judge it took 45 minutes to explain a routine matter to Wickham, and asked to waive his consent. (R 1034–35.)
- Wickham refused to attend pretrial hearings, charge conferences, or the penalty phase, prompting the trial judge to order the use of all "reasonable force if necessary" and later "bodily" force. (R 80, 1873.)
- During a colloquy with the court about admission of testimony regarding a prior conviction, Wickham spoke nonsense and obscenities. (R 1914.)
- Wickham exhibited highly inappropriate behavior, such as "flipping the bird" at the prosecutor, (R 1888), media, and courtroom spectators, (2011

PCR Vol. 11, Tr. 124, 166–67), and made "inappropriate remarks" to the jury. (R 2048.)

Despite these red flags, Dr. Carbonell was not asked to revisit the issue of competency that she had addressed *six months* prior to trial. (PCR 3553–54.) The State's psychologist also never evaluated Wickham's competency. (PCR 4110.)

1. Defense Counsel Was Fully Aware of Wickham's Behavior

Prior to the filing of Wickham's original Rule 3.850 motion, two investigators met and interviewed Padovano to get his then-recent recollections of his ability to communicate with Wickham. Their notes demonstrate just how incompetent Wickham had become under the stress of the trial, and the startling degree of his counsel's awareness of this fact at the time, including his belief that Wickham "decompensated a lot during trial," (PCR 6826):

- "There were times in the trial where P[adovano] couldn't talk to JW[ickham]." (*Id*.)
- "He wasn't someone who could help himself in his defense. He had almost 'zero' ability to help with his defense." (*Id.*)
- "P said JW was totally unmanageable," and the trial court's insistence on getting "a personal waiver on everything from JW was absurd: JW is barely functioning and the Judge is asking waiver questions." (*Id.*)
- "He's the kind of person who's marginally able to function to begin with, and the stress of the trial destroyed what little social ability he may have had to control himself." (*Id*.)
- "He was just like a little kid. He had the mentality of a little kid. He showed childish behavior. He would refuse to come out for trial, just like a

kid would refuse to come out of his room." (*Id.*)⁴
The court below, which did not question these witnesses' credibility, did not address these crucial notes when denying Rule 3.850 relief.

2. Counsel Did Not Advise His Psychologist Of Wickham's Disturbing Behavior

Despite these warning signals, defense counsel did not advise the trial court of his observations, and, more importantly, failed to share this information with Dr. Carbonell. As a result, no competency hearing was requested. (*Cf.* PCR 3554.)

Although defense counsel understood that his client's competency was subject to change and needed to be constantly monitored, (2011 PCR Vol. 11, Tr. 109; *see also* PCR 3440–41), and although he recognized that Wickham's ability to cope with trial was not that of a normal person, (2011 PCR Vol. 11, Tr. 167), counsel said he relied on Dr. Carbonell to inform him of any competency issues. (2011 PCR Vol. 11, Tr. 109; PCR 3437.) But Dr. Carbonell was unaware of Wickham's behavior. (PCR 3561.) Counsel did not provide her with jail records for Wickham—indicating a history of impulsive and poorly planned actions, (PCR 4804–30)—despite her request for them (PCR 3551–52), nor did he inform her of his own interactions with Wickham or of Wickham's courtroom behavior, which Dr. Carbonell was not in the courtroom to observe. (PCR 3561–3567; *see also*

12

_

These notes taken by Anne Jacobs O'Berry are corroborated by notes taken by Bonnie Forrest. (PCR 6833–41; *see also* 2011 PCR Vol. 12, Tr. 248–50).

PCR 3437–38.) She testified that, had she been aware of this behavior, she would have had concerns about Wickham's competency. (PCR 3561–62.)

C. Trial

1. Guilt Phase

At trial, the prosecutor presented the testimony of Wickham's four codefendants—all of whom pleaded guilty to second-degree murder in exchange for
their cooperation against Wickham—as well as Matthew Norris. The State also
called jailhouse informants Wallace Boudreaux, John Hanvey, and Michael
Moody—inmates who had been incarcerated with Wickham at the Leon County
Jail—to testify to statements Wickham allegedly made. The State used these
witnesses' testimony to argue that Wickham took the lead in planning the robbery
and intended to kill the victim in order to avoid arrest. Their testimony also was
used to impeach Dr. Carbonell's testimony about Wickham's mental incapacities.

Tammy Jordan testified that when discussing the potential robbery at a rest stop, Wickham said "there might be a killing involved in it," and when she and Sylvia Wickham suggested asking for help at a church, Wickham insisted "he was going to do it his way." (R 1191.)

Larry Schrader testified that Wickham had suggested the robbery, (R 1079, 1115), and he described hiding in the woods with Wickham and Jordan, watching Fleming pull up, and remaining hidden while Wickham walked to the car.

13

(R 1083.) He also testified that, after leaving the scene, Wickham said he killed the victim so "there wouldn't be no witnesses to testify against him." (R 1089.)

Sylvia Wickham and Jimmy Jordan testified that Wickham suggested that the group rob someone, but when specifically queried, both said that Wickham had said nothing about how to do it, nor did he indicate that violence might be involved. (R 1145, 1231, 1242.) Jimmy Jordan testified that he and Schrader hid in the woods with Wickham until Wickham walked out toward Fleming. (R 1236–37.) Sylvia Wickham testified that Wickham drank a case of beer a day and that he was drinking on the day of the offense. (R 1159.)

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