#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERRY MICHAEL WICKHAM,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC11-1193

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

opportunity to prove this claim, but Wickham failed to pursue it. Wickham abandoned the claim. See Booker v. State, 969 So.2d 186, 194-95 (Fla. 2007)("When a defendant fails to pursue an issue during proceedings before the trial court, and then attempts to present that issue on appeal, this Court deems the claim to have been abandoned or waived").

Furthermore, assuming arguendo that this claim is addressed on the merits, the State disagrees with Wickham's contention (IB 82) that Teffeteller v. State, 439 So.2d 840 (Fla. 1983), applies. There, the prosecutor was more explicit concerning the degree of the defendant's dangerousness and repeated the warning about the defendant killing again multiple times. Thus, the prosecutor's penalty phase argument surrounding his comment that "I'm sure that Mr. Padovano is going to get up here and say that 25 years before parole." (TT/X 2016) The prosecutor was correct. For example, defense counsel argued that the death penalty is "reserved for the worst of the cases." He argued: "But I ask you to ask yourselves whether it would be appropriate to use the death penalty for a pathetic lost soul like Jerry Wickham. I don't think it is." (Id. at 2032) Thus, the prosecutor's argument was at worst commensurate with the defense argument.

In any event, given the totality of the aggravating **evidence** and given the trial court's jury instruction that the jury was limited to the aggravating circumstances it **enumerated** "that are

established by the **evidence**" (TT/X 2036), which reinforced a parallel instruction prior to the guilt-phase attorney's argument that attorneys' arguments are not evidence (TT/VIII 1741), there is no <u>Strickland</u> prejudice. (<u>See also</u> trial court discussion of jury instructions and scope of argument, at 2PCR/5 873)

# ISSUE III: DID WICKHAM PROVE THAT HE WAS TRIED WHILE INCOMPETENT OR THAT HIS COUNSEL WAS PREJUDIALLY INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO REQUEST A COMPETENCY HEARING? (IB 83-95, RESTATED)

The trial court's 2004 (1PCR/17 3113) and 2011 (2PCR/5 826-32) orders examining competency-related claims should be affirmed. The 2004 order denied, as procedurally barred by the direct appeal, the claim alleging that the court trying this case should have conducted a competency hearing. The 2011 order examined the record at length and accredited defense counsel Padovano's 2010 testimony that he "never had any indication" that Wickham "wasn't competent to stand trial." He conversed with Wickham about "complex matters," and Wickham "understood everything" provided "his point of view." (2PCR/5 827-28, quoting 2PCR/11 60-61) In its extensive discussion, the trial court also pointed to defense counsel Padovano hiring Dr. Carbonnel, who "opined that the defendant was competent to stand trial" (2PCR/5 828; see also Dr. Carbonnel's 2004 testimony discussed at Id. at 831) and to Dr. McClaren's 2004 testimony (2PCR/5 830-31). (See also 1PCR/19 3623) Indeed,, in Dr. Carbonnel's November 1988 deposition, which Phil Padovano attended, she unequivocally stated, "I think he is

competent to stand trial." (1PCR/24 4523) The trial court's ruling on the free-standing competency claim and the trial court's denial of the IAC claim should be affirmed.

CLAIM II (1PCR/15 2766-73) of Wickham's Postconviction Motion had alleged as a claim that Wickham was unlawfully deprived of a hearing to determine his competency to stand trial. Wickham's IAC claim in his Postconviction Motion (See 1PCR/15 2771-73) also discussed competency as part of an allegation that "his attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to obtain adequate mental health evaluations and to request a competency hearing" (1PCR/15 2771-72). The trial court denied Wickham an evidentiary hearing concerning the free-standing competency-hearing claim and granted an evidentiary hearing concerning IAC. (1PCR/17 3113) See Lawrence v. State, 969 So.2d 294, 313 (Fla. 2007)("question ... on direct appeal ... whether the trial court erred in failing to sua sponte order a competency evaluation ... an entirely different legal question than whether defense counsel should have requested the hearing").

In denying Wickham an evidentiary hearing on the <u>competency-</u>
<a href="hearing claim">hearing claim</a>, the trial court correctly relied upon <u>Carroll v.</u>
<a href="hearing claim">State</a>, 815 So.2d 601 (Fla. 2002). See also <u>Patton v. State</u>, 784</a>

 $<sup>^{17}</sup>$  Applying an IAC prong, <u>Carroll</u> also held that "Carroll has not demonstrated prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>" because the defendant

So.2d 380, 393 (Fla. 2000)(adequacy of competency hearing procedurally barred by direct appeal).

In addition to a competency-hearing claim, Wickham's Initial Brief raises (IB 83, 84-88) a substantive due process competency claim, which as James v. Singletary, 957 F.2d 1562, 1571-72 (11th Cir. 1992), explained, is a different claim by discussing (a) a federal claim that the trial court should have sua sponte conducted a competency hearing, which is a claim pursuant to Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 (1966) and Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162 (1975), and, (b) a "substantive incompetency claim," which would be a claim pursuant to Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960). Here, while Wickham's postconviction motion mentions Dusky in passing (1PCR/15 2766), it failed to develop any argument on it. Instead, it repeatedly discussed and cited to Pate and Drope. (See Id. at 2766-68; see also Wickham's initial postevidentiary hearing memorandum at 2SPCR/4 622-26). Therefore, Wickham failed to preserve a substantive due process claim through his postconviction motion. See also Thomas v. Wainwright, 788 F.2d 684, 688 (11th Cir. 1986)(federal procedural bar, in essence, applied to a substantive competency claim where the defendant

failed to present evidence proving a different result. 815 So.2d at 610.

attempts to "invoke[e] the competency issue in a piecemeal fashion").

Moreover, Nelson v. State, 43 So.3d 20, 33 (Fla. 2010), applied the direct-appeal procedural bar to both the hearing and substantive types of competency claims. See also Ragsdale v. State, 720 So.2d 203, 205 n.1, n2 (Fla. 1998)(claim "(6) ... Ragsdale's competency claim" rejected as procedurally barred by the direct appeal).

The State also notes that while the reliance of the postconviction motion upon Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.210-3.215 (See 2PCR/15 2767, 2768, 2770, 2771) reinforces that Wickham was attempting to raise a competency-hearing claim, its discussion of those rules remained at a conclusory level and thereby failed to develop any argument, making any such procedural claim unpreserved below. Further, these procedural rules are not at a constitutional level.

Wright v. Secretary for Dept. of Corrections, 278 F.3d 1245, 1253-57 (11th Cir. 2002), is instructive. It discussed the differences between a competency hearing claim and a substantive due-process competency claim<sup>18</sup> and upheld the District Court's

Wright v. Secretary for Dept. of Corrections, 278 F.3d 1245, 1259 (11th Cir. 2002), explained that "Wright's substantive due process claim relating to mental competency is not procedurally barred [from federal review], and we will address its merits." See also Battle v. U.S., 419 F.3d 1292, 1298 (11th Cir. 2005)(distinguishing procedural from substantive federal

rejection of both claims. There, the evidence in front of the trial court during the trial-era indicated, like here, some history of mental illness. There, the defendant "suffer[ed] from schizophrenia," which had previously caused him to be judged mentally incompetent and had been previously "adjudicated not guilty by reason of insanity." There, the defendant was treated for mental illness and his "mental competency had been restored." "Wright's illness was one that went into periods of remission from time to time" and Wright had also been "tried and convicted on a number of occasions without any finding (or apparent suggestion) that he was mentally incompetent." There and here, the defendant in the case under review unsuccessfully attempted an insanity defense. There, the mental health expert who opined about insanity did not opine that the defendant was mentally incompetent and, instead, indicated that "during the evaluation Wright had been responsive in answering questions about his name, address, and similar things, and that Wright had accurately described to him the crime and Wright's role in it. "There, evidence indicated that Wright engaged in "perfectly normal activities" prior to the trial. 278 F.3d at 1257. However, there, less than a year after the trial under review, for another criminal case, a number of mental health experts indicated that Wright was incompetent to

competency claims).

stand trial, and the trial court found him incompetent; Wright was again treated, and he was again found competent. 278 F.3d at 1251. Here, like Wright's situation, Wickham's background includes evidence of mental illness and also evidence of the ability to reason and communicate. Also, here, during the postconviction proceedings apparently Wickham was competent enough to "knowingly and voluntarily" waive his appearance at the 2010 postconviction evidentiary proceedings. (See 2PCR/4 614; see also 2PCR/4 605-11, 628-29, 640-48) Here, unlike Wright, an expert even expressly found Wickham competent shortly prior to the trial. (See 1PCR/24 4523) Wright rejected the competency claims, and, to the degree either claim is reached on the merits, it should be rejected here.

Wickham mentions (IB 94) his acting out during trial proceedings, but, if probative at all, Wickham's bizarre behavior in 1988 illustrates his competence, not incompetence. At one point during the trial while looking at the victim's family in the courtroom, he stated, "I should have killed the whole q---damned family" (TT/IX 1884); he thereby demonstrated he understood that they were, in effect, on the other side of the matter being tried and that he had a stake in it. Similarly, after the guilty verdict and while the lawyers and the trial judge were discussing Wickham's robbery of a Michigan taxicab driver as one of Wickham's prior violent felonies, Wickham demonstrated his recall of the significance: event and its "S—t, no. Relax, -ss.

(unintelligible). I hope the son-of-a-b---- gets hit by a car and dies. ... Yes, I'm getting upset. It's my life." (TT/IX 1914) This behavior was consistent with Padovano's assessment of Wickham as "underst[anding] everything that was going on in the trial" (2PCR/11 61). Belligerence and meanness are not incompetency, as, for example, Wickham executed his meanness through the ruse of luring Mr. Fleming to his death and dragging his body away from the road and the through his directions to a cab driver to an isolated location so he could shoot the cab driver in the head and leave him for dead.

### ISSUE IV: IS WICKHAM ENTITELD TO RELIEF BECAUSE ERROR ACCUMULATED? (IB 96-98, RESTATED)

ISSUE IV looks like the "kitchen sink" claim. It incorrectly refers to "errors" discussed in the other issues then it lists in passing "multiple additional errors." None of these supposed matters contain any developed argument that discusses how it was preserved below, the elements of the claim, and then applies those elements to the facts. As such, they are not preserved for e.g., 901 So.2d at appellate review. See, Bryant, ("cursory"; "waived"); Whitfield, 923 So.2d at 379 ("merely conclusory arguments"); Lawrence, 831 So.2d at 133 ("Lawrence complains, in a single sentence ... bare claim is unsupported by argument); Sweet, 810 So.2d at 870 (Fla. 2002)("a sentence or two"; unpreserved); Freeman, 761 So.2d at 1061 (mere conclusory allegations); Parker, 904 So.2d at 378 (alternative postconviction

allegations that "either ... or ... simply asserts that either one of these theories might be true ... conclusory "). Apparently none of these matters were significant enough for Wickham to allocate separate issues to them.

Further, these claims are procedurally barred by the direct appeal. See, e.g., Owen v. State, 773 So.2d 510 n.5, 515 n.11 (Fla. 2000)(claims procedurally barred by direct appeal: "(4) the HAC instruction was improper ... (5) the felony murder instruction was improper; (6) the 'avoiding arrest' instruction was improper; (7) the 'prior violent felony' instruction was improper; ... (9) details of prior violent felonies were improperly admitted during the penalty phase; ... (13) the prosecutor made inflammatory remarks during closing argument; ... (15) the court erred in failing to allow a change in venue"); Bates v. State, 3 So.3d 1091, 1104 (Fla. 2009)("Attacks on a jury selection process must be raised on direct appeal"); Jones v. State, 928 So.2d 1178, 1183 n.5 (Fla. 2006) ("use of a contemporaneous conviction to support the prior violent felony "procedurally barred by direct appeal); Knight v. State, 923 So.2d 387, 393 (Fla. 2005)("(4) juror misconduct").

At most, Wickham discusses (IB 97) one his some, but, he states that it is the subject of one of his habeas claims, so, here, the claim is barred by the direct appeal, and the State will address the claim in its habeas response.

In any event, none of these claims have any merit. Wickham failed to demonstrate that any juror sitting on his trial was prejudiced (IB 96) with anything other than admissible and probative evidence. See, e.g., Copeland v. State, 457 So. 2d 1012 (Fla. 1984)("Public knowledge alone, however, is not the focus of the inquiry on a motion for change of venue based on pretrial publicity ..."); Dillbeck v. State, 964 So.2d 95, 102 (Fla. 2007)(publicity, prima facie insufficient for relief). There was no "carnival-like atmosphere" (IB 96). Instead, the trial was orderly and judicious. (See TT/IV-X)

And, the prosecutor's arguments (IB 96) were based upon the evidence and fair advocacy. The prosecutor argued that because the State's case against Wickham is so "insurmountable," Wickham is contending he is insane and then commends the question to the jury for it to answer (See TT/IV 936). The prosecutor did not wholesale tell the jury to "disregard" the jury instructions (IB 96-97). Instead, he told the jury to base its decision on the facts that were introduced into evidence "and the law that the judge gives you" (TT/VIII 1743) and the right reasons for its decision "are going to be the law that the judge gives you" (TT/VIII 1745). He then said that he will discuss what the State submits are the jury instructions that have the most direct bearing on the jury's decision in this case and proceeded to discuss the elements of the offense and instructions concerning evaluating witness testimony.

(See TT/VIII 1746-52) The context for the "almost fell out of my chair" was a discussion of the details of the evidence concerning the insanity defense (See TT/IX 1833-36).

Concerning the victim's father (IB 97-98, citing "PCR 4450"), the opinion of a victim's family member expressed to a judge is inconsequential here. Indeed, Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 827 (1991), enlarged what could be presented to the jury, and it did not concern opinions expressed to the judge.

In conclusion, the claims in Wickham's Initial Brief fail to demonstrate any error cognizable on appeal that might otherwise accumulate. See, e.g., Bell v. State, 965 So.2d 48, 75 (Fla. 2007)("where individual claims of error alleged are either procedurally barred or without merit, ... claim of cumulative error must fail"; Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1, 22 (Fla. 2003).

### ISSUE V: DOES ATKINS BAR THE EXECUTION OF SOMEONE WITH MENTAL ISSUES BUT WHO IS NOT MENTALLY RETARDED? (IB 98-99, RESTATED)

No. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Connor v. State</u>, 979 So.2d 852, 867 (Fla. 2007)("To the extent that Connor is arguing that he cannot be executed because of mental conditions that are not insanity or mental retardation, the issue has been resolved adversely to his position"). Moreover, as this court observed in its direct-appeal affirmance, it "must note that the State controverted some of this mitigating evidence, thus diminishing its forcefulness" and then pointed to "the facts of the murder and the actions and statements of Wickham," 593 So.2d 191, 194 (Fla. 1991). Indeed, for example,

as discussed supra, even Dr. Carbonnel found Wickham to be competent.

Moreover, Wickham fails to show where he presented this to the trial court to preserve it for this appeal. (See 1PCR/15 2740 et seq.).

To the degree that this claim seeks to re-litigate proportionality review, it is procedurally barred by the direct appeal. See, e.g., Lukehart v. State, 2011 WL 2472801, \*16 (Fla. June 23, 2011).

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussions, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court affirm the trial court's denials of postconviction relief.